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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA

BECKLEY DIVISION

NICOLE REX,
Plaintiff,
V. CIVIL ACTION NO. 5:15-cv-01017

WEST VIRGINIA SCHOOL OF
OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE, et al.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

The Court has reviewed the PlaintifFgst Amended Complaifbocument 7)Defendant
West Virginia School of OsteopathiMedicine’s Motion to DismisgDocument 12), the
Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendant Wadinia School of Oopathic Medicine’s
Motion to Dismiss(Document 13)Defendants Michael Adelmahgslie Bicksler and Elaine
Soper’s Motion to Dismis@Document 16), thdemorandum of Law in Support of Defendants
Michael Adelman, Leslie Bickslend Elaine Soper’'s Motion to Dismig®ocument 17), the
Plaintiffs Memorandum in Opposition to MotiottsDismiss by Defendants West Virginia School
of Osteopathic Medicine, Michael Adw®in, Leslie Bicksler, Elaine Sop@ocument 22}, and

Defendants West Virginia School@$teopathic Medicine, Michadldelman, Leslie Bicksler and

1 The Plaintiff filed @&Combined Response in Opposition to Motions to Dis(Biesument 21) on May 15, 2015, the

date a response was due. Wemorandum in OppositiofPocument 22) was filed the following Monday, May 18.

The combined responsibcument appears to be augh draft of the memorandum in opposition. Because the
Defendants used the memorandum in opposition in their reply, the Court will also consider that document despite its
untimeliness. In addition, the Coudtes that the Plaintiff's opposition exceedstihenty-page limit. The Plaintiff

states that this was necessary becahgecombined her responses to mldtimotions to dismiss. Finding good
cause, the Court has considered thié document, but notes that parties should seek leave to file a document
exceeding the applicable pagaits prior to doing so.
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Elaine Soper's Reply to Plaintif's Memorandum Opposition to Motions to Dismiss by
Defendants West Virginia School of Osteopathidiklee, Michael Adelman,eslie Bicksler, and
Elaine SopefDocument 24).

For the reasons stated herein, the Counddithat the Defendaitmotions should be

granted in part and denied in part.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY?

Plaintiff Nicole Rex initiated this action with@omplaint(Document 1) filed on January
23, 2015. Her first amended complaint waedf on February 23, 2015. In the amended
complaint, she named the following defendantssi¥&rginia School of Osteopathic Medicine
(WVSOM), Michael Adelman, in ki official and individual cap#y, Leslie Bicksler, in her
official and individual capacityElaine Soper, in her officiaand individual capacity, Jeffrey
Shawver, in his official anahdividual capacity, and Tiffany WrightOn June 8, 2015, she filed a
Stipulation of Voluntary Bimissal of Defendants Jeffr&pawver and Tiffany Wrigkibocument
27).

The Plaintiff was a student at WVSOM in 2013he alleges that a fellow student, D.M.,
drugged and raped her after she had been drirsdtiag off-campus party they both attended on
August 31, 2013. The Plaintiff and her friends hadffitulty ascertaininghow to report her
alleged assault to WVSOM. “While WVSOM lmy designated that the Associate Dean of
Student Affairs or theDirector of Human Resirces handle sexual harassment complaints,

WVSOM had no Associate Dean 8tudent Affairs at the timeand the Director of Human

2 For purposes of this motion to dismiss, all factllabations contained in the amended complaint are accepted as
true.
3 She also alleges that D.M. brought marijuana to the party, which he shared wihtbthegh she did not smoke
any.
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Resources was responsible for school personnektadents.” (Compl. at  40.) On or about
September 5, 2012, one of the Pldiistifriends emailed John A. Siefer, the Associate Dean for
Pre-Clinical Education, responsible for first asetond year students, to request a meeting. The
Plaintiff met with Dean Shrief on September 6, 2012, and repottezl assault, as well as the
symptoms that made her believe she had been drugdedat { 42.) Dean Skafer told her that

he did not know how to proceed or who at W\M@@as responsible for handling complaints of
sexual assault or harassment, but assured the Plaintiff that her complaint would be confidential and
that she would be protected from retaliationid. @t Y 45, 46, 50.) Dean Shriefer drafted a
formal complaint of sexual assault, ané fPlaintiff signed it oreptember 12, 2012.1d( at

68.)

The Plaintiff reported the assault to theipmland went to the hospital on September 6,
2012, the same day she met with Dean ShriefBne doctor found vaginal inflammation and
tenderness, as well as vagimd¢eding. The Plaintiff sought Rersonal Safety Order against
D.M. from the Greenbrier County Court. The Court issued a Temporary Personal Safety Order
banning D.M. from communicating with the Plafhtind scheduled a personal safety hearing for
September 19, 2012.1d( at 1 65-67.)

The Plaintiff asserts that a fellow student todat that D.M. had askdde student to testify
that he had not put anything in her drinkid. @t f 69.) She spoke with Dean Schriefer and
WVSOM President Michael Adelmamaut that report. They tolier that Dean Schriefer would
support her during the investigatiancluding at the court heag, and President Adelman told
her that she did not nedakr own attorney. Iq. at Y 70-72.) Howeveprior to the hearing,

WVSOM allegedly “directed Dean Shriefey stop helping” the Plaintiff. Id. at § 98.) Dean



Schriefer attended the hearing, but refused to speak with herat §] 99.) Dean Schriefer did
speak with D.M. and his counsel, and lefth him at the end of the hearingld.(at 1 100.) The
Plaintiff requested that the heay be continued so that slweuld retain counsel, which was
granted. Id. at 1 102.)

The court hearing was held on September2232. D.M. testified under oath that “he
knew that [the Plaintiff] was drinking ‘way too fastut claimed that hevas unable to engage in
sexual intercourse due to his own intoxicatiornd. &t  104.) The magistrate found that D.M.
had sexually assaulted the Plaintiff and isshednaximum two-year order of protection, banning
D.M. from having any contact with the Plaintiff.ld( at §{ 105-06.) He also issued an order
barring D.M. from speaking to anyoaeWVSOM about the Plaintiff. Id. at  107.)

Meanwhile, on September 18, 2012, WVSO84ued a no-contadrder against the
Plaintiff, banning her from havinghg contact with D.M. and warning her of consequences if she
did not comply. Id. at 1 77-84.) It was signed by Defendant Elaine Soper as the Title IX
Coordinator, which was the first time the Rl#f was informed that WVSOM had a Title 1X
Coordinator. Id. at 1 77-86.) DefendantscBsler and Soper further weed the Plaintiff that
she was prohibited “from communicating withyastudent, faculty member, or administrator
about her case” and would face sesimonsequences if she did sdd. @t 1 88, 95.) Jeffrey
Shawver, an attorney for WVSOM, later told fRkintiff that speaking about the assault to her
therapist would constitute a criminal offensdd. @t § 113.) The Plaintiff alleges that these
restrictions made it impossible for her to attetabses, seek accommodations from her professors,

receive support from friends, or even expl&ier absences and behavioral changes to her



professors. I¢l. at 98-97.) The Plaintiffsserts that WVSOM did neequire D.M. to abide by
the same restrictions, although both received a no-contact orfterat {f 69-70, 123.)

The Plaintiff also alleges that WVSO falldo protect her pracy. A staff member
“disclosed to second year students and perhdpgthat [the Plairff] had filed a complaint
accusing [D.M.] of raping her.” Iq4. at  109.) Title IX Coordirtars Leslie Bicksler and Ms.
Soper, as well as WVSOM attorney Mr. Shawveok no action when the Plaintiff reported the
breach of her confidentiality. &ents, staff members, and faculty asked the Plaintiff about her
alleged rape, commented about it on social mexhd, made the Plaintiff, as well as issues of
sexual assault and Title J$ubjects of campus mockery and ridiculeéd. &t 1 128-135.)

Shortly after the Plaintiff filed her formal complaint, WVSOM opened an investigation
against her aunt, a WVSOM employeghvwhom the Plaintiff resided. Id. at 1 116-17.) Mr.
Shawver conducted the investigat The investigation recededter WVSOM“concluded its
review of [the Plaintiff's] claims.” I¢. at § 121.)

The Plaintiff alleges that WSOM’s investigation into the sexual assault was insufficient
and biased. She asserts that WVSOM lacked any policy or procedures when she initially reported
her rape. As a result, she believes WVSOWgEsponse was flawed from the beginning.
Although she reportetthat she suspected she had been ddighe school did nsuggest she be
tested, and later ignored her reqdesta recommended testing facility.ld(at § 124.) WVSOM
did not give the Plaintiff a timime for the investigation, did not keep her informed as to its
progress, and missed its own sthideadlines without issuingraport or status update. Ms.
Bicksler and Ms. Soper “required [the Plaintiff] to file her official statement over a month earlier

than [D.M.], allowing him substantial time in wh to fine tune his sty, dissect her witness



statement, better prepare his case, and delay his statement until after the Court case [seeking a
protective order before the magistrate] was completéd: af 1 123.)

WVSOM issued a Confidential Report bfvestigation (the Report) on December 10,
2012, finding that D.M. had engatjin “unprofessional” behaot on the night in questich. (Id.
at 11 139-40.) “However, the Repdetermined that [D.M.] did ndnow that [the Plaintiff] was
incapacitated so sexual harasstmegd not been proved.”Id( at  142.) The Report did not
reference the Plaintiff's belighat she had been drugged, aM¥SOM declined to consider
potentially incriminating statements madel., under oath, during the court proceedingd. (
at Y 145-149.) As a result of the “unprofessional conduct” finding, D.M. was ultimately
required to “write a 5 page paper about why drugs are harmful and do 10 hours of community
service,” and was assured that his Dean’#elreof recommendation would not mention the
incident as long as he “wa®t caught engaging in similaehavior in the future.” 14. at § 173.)

The Plaintiff appealed the findings of tieeport. WVSOM again failed to keep the
Plaintiff informed as to the appeal’s process, progress, or outcotdeat {[ 164.) The appeal
was ultimately denied. WVSOM declined tmpen the case after the Plaintiff “received the
results of a drug test confirming that [she]swa fact given diazepam (Valium) — a commonly
used rape drug — during thelevant time period.” 1. at { 168—69.)

In early 2013, as the appeal was in progrBsl. twice approached the Plaintiff and her
friends in a manner that shauihd threatening. She reported ¢dosduct to law enforcement, and
the restraining order was modified to bar him from being within 250 feet of hérat [ 159—

60.) WVSOM did not take gnaction against D.M. Id. at J 161.) Instead, the Plaintiff was

4 The Plaintiff alleges that “[tlhe Rert stated that [D.M.’stonduct ‘negatively imgcted fellow students’ and
included ‘consumption of an illegal drug which he brought to the party.” (Am. Canffl140.)
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offered a personal escort to accompany heand from classes, but the escort was often
unavailable.Id. at 7 162—63.)

The Plaintiff filed a complaint with the Unit&tates Department of Education’s Office of
Civil Rights (OCR) on March 12, 2013, alleging that WM violated Title 1X in its handling of
her complaint. Ifl. at 1 175.) She assetigat an OCR employee told her that WVSOM was not
cooperative with the reling investigation. Id. at § 176.) She further alleges that WVSOM
began modifying its policies to conform withtl& IX only after the OCR investigation began.
(Id. at 1 177.)

After completion of the Report, WVSOMillegedly responded to the continuing
harassment of the Plaintiff by pressuring heetove campus. President Adelman told her father
“that WVSOM'’s ‘first priority is to get [the Riintiff] out of here for her safety, comfort, and
well-being.” (Id. at § 151.) Dean Schriefer and President Adelman offered the Plaintiff
assistance in leaving campus and in tramsfg to another medical school, though no tuition
refund was offered. Iq. at 1 152, 174.) The Plaintiff to@kleave of absee in March 2013,
and withdrew from WVSOM in July 2013.Id( at §f 170-71.) Sheatnsferred to another
medical school, where she had to repeat her first ydar.at(f 171.)

The Plaintiff asserts the following causes of action:

(1) Violation of Title IX against WVSOM - Hostile Educational Environment;

(2)  Violation of Title IX against WWVSOM — Clearly Unreasonable Response;

(3) Violation of Section 1983, First Amendnieifree Speech Rights agai

Defendant Jeffrey Shawvéroluntarily dismissed);

(4) Violation of Section 1983, FourtethnAmendment Equal Protection Rights

against Defendants AdelmaBicksler, and Soper;

(5)  MonellLiability for Failure to Train and Supervised Personnel on the Proper
Response to Sexual Assault, against WVSOM;

5 Though certain claims, as noted, are no longer pendm@.dbrt will maintain the current numbering of the counts.
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(6) Monell Liability for Unconstitutional Custom and Practices against
WVSOM,;

(7)  Monell Liability for Unconstitutional Custom and Practices against
WVSOM (duplicate of Count Six);

(8) Invasion of Privacy against WBOM and Defendant Wright (dismissed
against Ms. Wright);

(9) Prima FacieNegligence against WVSOM;

(10) Breach of Contract against WVSOM,;

(11) Unauthorized Practice of Law agat WVSOM and President Adelman;

(12) Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress (IIED) against WVSOM.

The Plaintiff seeks compensatory damages, punitive damages, injunctive relief, statutory

interest, costs, and reasdnte attorney fees.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion to dismiss filed pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for failure
to state a claim upon which relief can be grariessds the legal sufficiey of a complaint or
pleading. Francis v. Giacomelli588 F.3d 186, 192 (4th Cir. 2009jarratano v. Johnsor21
F.3d 298, 302 (4th Cir. 2008). Federal Rule ofild?rocedure 8(a)(2) rpiires that a pleading
contain “a short and plain statement of the claim shgthat the pleader entitled to relief.” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). Additionally, allegations “must be simple, concised@mect.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
8(d)(1). “[T]he pleading standard Rul@ announces does not regui‘detailed factual
allegations,” but it demands more than amadorned, the-defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me
accusation.” Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (20099{oting Bell Atlantic Corp v. Twombly
550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)). In other words, “anptaint must contain “more than labels and
conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of theneénts of a cause of action will not do.”
Twombly 550 U.S. at 555. Moreover, “a complaint Jwibt] suffice if it tendes naked assertions
devoid of further factual enhancementsigbal, 556 U.S. at 678¢uoting Twombly550 U.S. at

557) (internal quotation marks omitted).



The Court must “accept as truk @f the factual allegations contained in the complaint.”
Erickson v. Parduss51 U.S. 89, 93 (2007). The Court mailsio “draw[ ] all reasonable factual
inferences from those facts in the plaintiff's favorEdwards v. City of Goldsboyd78 F.3d 231,

244 (4th Cir. 1999). However, statements ofebkegal conclusions “are not entitled to the
assumption of truth” and are insufficient to state a claigbal, 556 U.S. at 679. Furthermore,
the court need not “accept as true unwarrantddrences, unreasonable conclusions, or
arguments.” E. Shore Mkts., v. J.DAssocs. Ltd. P’ship?213 F.3d 175, 180 (4tRir. 2000).
“Threadbare recitals of thelements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory
statements, do not suffice . . . [because courts]iatdound to accept asi& a legal conclusion
couched as a factual allegation.Tgbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quotinpwombly, 550 U.S. at 555).

To survive a motion to dismiss, “a comiplamust contain suffient factual matter,
accepted as true, ‘to state a claim toeffetihat is plausible on its face.”Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678
(quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570). In other words,stiplausibility standard requires a
plaintiff to demonstrate more dh ‘a sheer possibility that@efendant has acted unlawfully.”
Francis, 588 F.3d at 193 (quotinfwombly,550 U.S. at 570). A plintiff must, using the
complaint, “articulate facts, when accepted as, theg ‘show’ that the plaintiff has stated a claim
entiting him to relief.” Francis, 588 F.3d at 193 (quotingwombly, 550 U.S. at 557).
“Determining whether a complaint states [onfase] a plausible claim for relief [which can

survive a motion to dismiss] will . . . be a contexéafic task that requires the reviewing court to

draw on its judicial expegnce and common senselgbal, 556 U.S. at 679.



DISCUSSION

A. Title IX

WVSOM moves to dismiss the Title IX claimsit argues that the facts pled in the
amended complaint demonstrate that it was not deliblgrindifferent to thélaintiff's claims of
sexual harassment because it undertook an investigend issued a no-contact order. It further
argues that not having almy or procedure in place for hanalj Title IX claims is not actionable
in itself. The Plaintiff responds that WVYSOM&sponse to her complaint of sexual assault as a
whole, and its investigation in particular, wémadequate and plagued bias. She also argues
that she sufficiently pled a claim for retaliationder Title IX. WVSOM relies that the Plaintiff
is simply attempting to second-gudhks results ofhe investigation. It ab argues that she did
not plead a claim for taliation under Title 1X.

First, the Court concludes that the curramended complaint does not contain a Title 1X
claim for retaliation. The Plaintiff specificallglentified the two Title IX counts as “hostile
educational environment” and “clearly unreaable response.” Althgh both counts contain
allegations that she suffered retaliation, the Defendant was not on notice that those brief
allegations formed a separate claim. BecaueePtaintiff has not pled a Title IX retaliation
claim, the Court expresses mpinion with respect to whethehe factual allegations would
support such a claim.

Title IX provides that: “No person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be
excluded from participation in, kdenied the benefits of, or lseibjected to discrimination under
any education program or activity receiving Fadl@énancial assistance.” 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1681. A

school receiving federal funds mag held liable for student-astudent harassment “where the
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funding recipient acts with deliberate indiffererto known acts of harassment in its programs or
activities.” Davis v. Monroe Cnty. Bd. of Edu626 U.S. 629, 633, (1999). “To establish a Title
IX claim on the basis of sexual hasaent, a plaintiff must showath(1) she was a student at an
educational institution receiving federal funds, $Be was subjected to harassment based on her
sex, (3) the harassment was sufficiently severe or pervasive to create a hostile (or abusive)
environment in an educational program or activity, and (4) there is a basis for imputing liability to
the institution.® Jennings v. Univ. of N. Carolina82 F.3d 686, 695 (4th Cir. 2007).

The Plaintiff has alleged suffient facts to state a claimrfeexual harassment under Title
IX. She alleges that she was a student at WMSé&h institution receiving federal funds. She
alleges that she was raped by kofe student, and harassed by lagtacker, other students, and
WVSOM faculty and stuff as she pursued lodsim. She alleges that WVSOM had no
procedures in place at the time of her attackyitey her to search out support from unprepared
WVSOM officials. She alleges ahWVSOM's investigation wasdlved and biased in favor of
her attacker, and that WVSOM deliberately depritred of both internal and external forms of
support. Her allegations supportiaference that WVSOM engagetthe investigation with the
intention of minimizing the incident, protectitige school’s reputation, and putting the incident
behind the institution. Finally, she alleges ti&/SOM, after ignoring or even encouraging
continued harassment, informed her that she could not be protectedpuscard facilitated her
withdrawal. If those allegations are ultimatslypported by the evidence, they could constitute
deliberate indifference. @&ordingly, WVSOM’s motion to dismiss Counts One and Two

(considered jointly) must be denied.

6 This framework requires plaintiffs to demonstrate bethostile environment and an unreasonable response (or
deliberate indifference). The amended complaint contagparate Title IX counts for “hostile educational
environment” and “clearly unreasonable responsé&ltie Court has considered those counts jointly.
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B. 42 U.S.C. § 1983

The Defendants, in their separate motidasdismiss, argue that the claims brought
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983 in Counts Fhupugh Seven should be dismissed. WVSOM
asserts that it is not subjectdlaims under 8§ 1983 because it is an arm of the state, not a person.
President Adelman, Ms. Bicksler, and Ms. Sopemike argue that they emot subject to suit
under § 1983 in their official capacities because #reynot “persons.” They further argue that
the claims against them in their individual capasitiail because their actions did not violate the
Plaintiff's right to personal sedty and bodily integrity and theglid not treat the Plaintiff in a
discriminatory manner. Finally, they assert tiety are entitled to qualified immunity because
they were performing discretionafynctions within wither official capacities in responding to the
Plaintiff's complaint.

The Plaintiff, citing West Virginia case laargues that neither WSOM nor its officials
are immune from liability. She argues thaewnth Amendment immunity is inapplicable
because she requests injunctive relief. She asserts that qualified immunity is not available
because the Defendants violated ¢tiearly established right to eee from sex discrimination in
education.

Section 1983 provides, as relevant:

Every person who, under color ofyastatute, ordinance, regulation,
custom, or usage, of any State Derritory or the District of
Columbia, subjects, or causes to sabjected, any citizen of the
United States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the
deprivation of any rights, privilegs, or immunities secured by the

Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action
at law, suit in equity, or otlgroper proceeding for redress.
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42 U.S.C. § 1983. States, state agencies, andddfati@ls in their offical capacities are not
“persons” for purposes of § 1983lthough municipalities and muipal officials are considered
“persons” subject to suitWill v. Michigan Department of State Poljet91 U.S. 58, 71 (1989);
Monell v. Dept. of Social Servs. of New Y@l&6 U.S. 658, 690-91 (1978). Section 1983 suits
for sexual harassment follow the framework of Title claims. Thus, the Plaintiff must allege
that the Defendant(s) were state actors, shehaassed because of her sex, and “the harassment
was sufficiently severe or pervasive to integfemreasonably with hedecational activities.”
Jennings482 F.3d at 701.
The doctrine of respondeat superior isanilable for 8§ 1983 claims, but defendants may
be subject to supervisory liabilityBaynard v. Malone268 F.3d 228, 235 (4th Cir.2001). To
establish supervisory liability, a Plaintiff must show:
(1) that the supervisdrad actual or constrtice knowledge that his
subordinate was engaged in cordiiat posed “a pervasive and
unreasonable risk” of constitutionahjury to citizens like the
plaintiff; (2) that the supervisortesponse to that knowledge was so
inadequate as to show “ddditate indifference to or tacit
authorization of the alleged offaws practices,”; and (3) that there
was an “affirmative causal link” between the supervisor's inaction
and the particular constitutionajumy suffered by the plaintiff.

Shaw v. Strouydl3 F.3d 791, 799 (4th Cir. 1994); (reaffirmediaynard 268 F.3d at 235).

Qualified immunity is an affirmative defensgended to shield public officials from civil
suits arising out of their perforance of job-related dutiesSee, e.g.Pearson v. Callahgns55
U.S. 223, 231-32 (2009). Defendants asserting a qualified immunity defense first bear the

burden of “demonstrating that the conduct of whtw plaintiff complains falls within the scope

of the defendant’s duties.In re Allen 106 F.3d 582, 594 (4th Cir. 1997) (internal quotation

7 However, state officials are subject to suit in their official capacities to the extent they are sued for injunctive relief.
See, e.gWill v. Michigan Dep't of State Policd91 U.S. 58, 93, note 10 (1989).
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marks omitted.) The defense of qualified imntyns available unless the official “knew or
reasonably should have known that the action he wthkn his sphere obfficial responsibility
would violate the constitutional rights of the plaintiff... Harlow v. Fitzgerald 457 U.S. 800,
815 (1982) (internal emphases omitted). Officemls protected even if they make reasonable
mistakes of fact or law, so long as they dot violate a clearly ¢éablished statutory or
constitutional right. Pearson 555 U.S. at 231-32. “A constitonal right is ‘clearly
established’ when its contourseasufficiently clear that a reasable official would understand
that what he is doing violates that rightCooper v. Sheehai@35 F.3d 153, 158 (4th Cir. 2013)
(internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

The Fourth Circuit has not addressedetiter public colleges and universities are
“persons” under § 1983. However, most circtitsconsider the question have concluded that
public colleges and universitiesr (iheir Boards of Trustees) amet subject to stiunder § 1983.
See, e.g.Gaby v. Bd. of Trustees of Cmty. Technical Colleg48 F.3d 62, 63 (2d Cir. 2003);
McLaughlin v. Bd. of Trustees of State Colleges of Colqradé F.3d 1168, 1172 (10th Cir.
2000); Googerdy v. N. Carolina Agr. & Technical State Uni886 F. Supp. 2d 618, 625
(M.D.N.C. 2005)put see Gay Student Servs. v. Texas A & M | B2 F.2d 160, 163-64 (5th Cir.
1980)abrogated by Will v. Midlgan Dep't of State Polic&91 U.S. 58 (1989).

This Court, likewise, concludelkat a public university is anrarof the state not subject to
suit under § 1983. Althougklonell held that municipalities wersubject to § 1983 liability
where the municipality’s custom or policy caa the constitutional harm, that holding has not

been extended to other entities that are armseddttite. The Plaintiff, therefore, necessarily has
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not stated a plausibtdaim for relief against WVYSOM und&r1983 in Counts Five, Six, or Seven,
and those counts must be dismissed.

Count Four asserts an eqpabtection claim against Defdants Adelman, Bicksler, and
Soper in their official and indidual capacities. Although offial capacity suits are generally
treated as suits against thetign plaintiffs may seek injoctive relief through 8 1983 actions
against officials in their official capacity. Thealitiff seeks injunctiveelief, including changes
in WVSOM policies related to sexual harassnaemt drug testing for victims of sexual violerfce.
Therefore, dismissal of Count &oagainst the Defendants in theifficial capacities is not
warranted based on their status as officidtapagh monetary damagesearot available against
the Defendants in their official capacities.

Next, the Court finds that the Plaintiff has scintly stated a plausible claim for violation
of her equal protection rights under the Fourtiegkmendment against &ident Adelman, Ms.
Bicksler, and Ms. Soper. Of course, these Deémts cannot be held liable for D.M.’s alleged
rape. However, they may be subject to lidypior their own actions-and inactions—following
the Plaintiff's complaint. For example, Ms. Bicksler and Ms. Soper allegedly imposed a No
Contact Order against the Plaintiff, prohibitihgr from speaking with anyone about her rape.
When a WVSOM employee disclostte Plaintiff's allegations to second-year medical students,
Ms. Bicksler and Ms. Soper alladjg did nothing. The Plaintiff ab alleges that Ms. Bicksler

and Ms. Soper gave D.M. extra time to file his statement and prepare his case.

8 In their reply, the Defendants arguattthe Plaintiff did not properly pleadclaim for injunctive relief because she
failed to include any allegations with respect to the lilaalih of success at trial, risk harm in the absence of
preliminary relief, balance of equities, or public intere3tose factors relate to a preliminary injunction, which the
Plaintiff does not seek.
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The Plaintiff asserts that President Adelmeas aware of the Plaintiff's complaint, and
D.M.’s efforts to gather evidence in his favor,aat early stage. He allegedly assured her that
Dean Shriefer would support her and that she dichaeetl an attorney at a court hearing, shortly
before the school and administrativithdrew all supportie resources. The Plaintiff also alleges
that President Adelman was active ings@ing her to withdraw from WVSOM.

In addition to their own alleged actions patting the Plaintiff at a disadvantage in the
complaint process compared to her alleged attacker, all three Defendants may be subject to
supervisory liability. Faculty and staff at WVSOBk well as students, reportedly subjected the
Plaintiff to harassment and ridicule related the rape and her complaint. Each of these
Defendants was allegedly aware of at least some of the instances ofeatassd they ignored
the harassment as it happened. Although WVSfid/eventually hold a Title IX training, the
response as a whole, as described by the Plaimfiéyedly did nothing tanake clear that such
harassment was not acceptable behavior. Ultimately, rather than taking action to stop the campus
community from continuing to harass the Plairaifid mock the subject of sexual harassment, the
Defendants allegedly pressured her to withdraw.

Finally, the right to be frefom sexual discrimination and harassment at an educational
institution is clearly establishedSee, e.qg.Fitzgerald v. Barnstable Sch. Comra55 U.S. 246,

257 (2009). ltis also clearly established tlegponding to complaints of sexual harassment with
deliberate indifference olates that right. Jennings 482 F.3d at 701. The Plaintiff has alleged
that the Defendants deliberately imposed addifitiurdens on her and ldeerately instituted a

biased investigation dier complaint. Therefore, the Cobdinds that the Defendants are not
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entitled to qualified immunity at this stagéAccordingly, the Defendants’ motion to dismiss
Count Four must be denied.

C. Common Law Claims

WVSOM moves for dismissal of Counts Eightough Twelve on the basis of immunity
because the Plaintiff failed tomit her recovery to the amounf its insurance policy. Both
WVSOM and President Adelman also assert thaftaintiff’'s claim for unauthorized practice of
law in Count Eleven must be dismissed because she was not damaged by President Adelman’s
advice that she did not need an attorney avthgistrate hearing. WVSOM argues that the Count
Ten claim for breach of contract must be dssad because it is based on the Student Handbook,
which is not a contract.

In response, the Plaintiff citease law from the District Couidr the NortherrDistrict of
West Virginia permitting cases to go forward witheupressly pleading that recovery is limited to
insurance coverage because “federal coumsrat governed by state court pleading rules.”
(Resp. at 27.) She further argues thatwhe damaged by Presidedtlelman’s unauthorized
practice of law because she suffered emotiorstatis as a result of WVSOM'’s withdrawal of
support at the hearing, which was coo#d to permit her to obtain counsel.

The West Virginia Constitution provides thaetktate is immune from lawsuits. W. Va.
Const. art. VI, 8 35. That immity is not appicable when the reliefaight is limited to the
amount recoverable from thea®’s liability insurance. See, e.q.Syl. Pt. 1,Parkulo v. W.
Virginia Bd. of Prob. & Parole483 S.E.2d 507, 509 (W. Va. 1996Rarkulo established a rule
requiring plaintiffs to expresslgllege “that the recovery sought is limited to the applicable

insurance coverage” in the complainid., Syl. Pt. 3. Some federal courts within West Virginia
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have applied that rule See, e.gB.E. v. Mount Hope High SghNo. 2:11-CV-00679, 2012 WL
3580091, at *4 (S.D.W. Va. Aud.7, 2012) (Goodwin, J.)Smith v. W. Virginia Univ. Bd. of
Governors No. 2:11-CV-00430, 2012 WL 1111440, at *6 (SAD Va. Mar. 302012) (Johnston,
J.). Others, however, have concluded thatgleading requirement is a procedural rule not
applicable in federal courtSee, e.gHutchinson v. W. Virginia State PolicE31 F. Supp. 2d 521,
534 (S.D.W. Va. 2010) (Chambers, dffd sub nom. Hutchinson v. LemmdB6 F. App'x 210
(4th Cir. 2011)Ambrose v. SheelgMo. 3:12-CV-79, 2013 WL 1890%2at *4 (N.D.W. Va. May
6, 2013) (Groh, J.)

The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure sathadhe pleading requirements for documents
filed in federal court. WVSOM does not assert that the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure require a
statement that the relief sought is lindite the liability insurance coverage The Court finds that
the state requirement that a complaint contain an allegation limiting recovery on claims against the
state to the applicable insurance coverage is gduveg rather than substantive. It is, therefore,
not binding on federal courts. The substantiyeeasof the rule—that damages cannot exceed
WVSOM'’s applicable insurance verage—applies. However, tR®urt finds that the motion to
dismiss Counts Eight through Twelve on the dadisovereign immunity should be denied.

WVSOM moves to dismiss Count Ten on altive grounds. The Court finds that the
Plaintiff's claim for breach otontract must be dismissed besaut does not allege facts to
establish a binding contractThe Plaintiff relies on WVSOM’s sexual harassment policy,

contained in the Student Handbook. WVSONhehed a “Handbook Policy Statement” that

9 In general, when a complaint seeks relief that is unavailable, that form of relief will be stricken without impacting
the underlying claim. See, e.gWalden v. Starcon Int'l, IncNo. 2:14-CV-12913, 2014 WL 3696658, at *3 (S.D.W.

Va. July 23, 2014) (Goodwin, J.) (dismissing claim for pueitlamages). Defendants can thus ensure that damages
remain within legal limits without courts dismissing otherwise valid claims.
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expressly states that the Student Handbook is mointract. (Handbook Policy Statement, att'd
to WVSOM'’s Mot. as Ex. A) (Document 12-1.Accordingly, Count Ten must be dismissed.

Count Eleven alleges that WYSOM and President Adelman engaged in the unauthorized
practice of law when President Adelman told thairRiff that (a) he was an attorney and (b) she
did not need counsel at the Msigate’s hearing for a protecticorder because Dean Shriefer
would support her. In WesV¥irginia, “[a] party who hassuffered...a legally cognizable
injury...as a proximate result of the unlawfmnd unauthorized practicd law by another has
standing to assert a claimeeking relief.” Syl. Pt. IMcMahon v. Advanced Title Servs. Co. of
W. Virginia 607 S.E.2d 519, 520 (W. Va. 2004). Thefddelants assert that, because the
Plaintiff was ultimately able tbave the hearing continued, obtawunsel, and receive the relief
she sought, she suffered no damages.

The Court disagrees. Relying on Presidadelman’s assurances, she arrived at the
September 19, 2012 hearing without counsel, onlini that her allegedttacker was present
with counsel, and Dean Schriefer was no long@pporting her. Omer request, the court
continued the hearing until Septber 25, 2012, when she appeaséttt counsel and obtained a
two-year order of protection. The Plaintiff redkeged that she was dageal by being without the
support of counsel at the September 19 hearing and by having to wait an additional week for
resolution of the process of seeking an ordeprotection. Thus, the motion to dismiss as to
Count Eleven should be denied.

CONCLUSION
WHEREFORE, following careful consideraticand for the reasons stated herein, the

Court ORDERS that Defendant West Virginia School Qfsteopathic Medicine’s Motion to
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Dismiss(Document 12) b6RANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART. Specifically, the
Motion (Document 12) iISRANTED as to Counts Five, Six, Seven, and Ten,RBNIED as to
Counts One, Two, Eight, Nine, Eleven, and Twelve.

The Court furtheORDERS thatDefendants Michael Adelman,dle Bicksler and Elaine
Soper’s Motion to DismiséDocument 16) bédENIED, except that the motion to dismiss is
GRANTED as to Count Four for the Defendants ieithofficial capacitiesto the extent the
Plaintiff seeks non-injunctive relief.

The CourtDIRECTS the Clerk to send a certified copytbfs Order to counsel of record
and to any unrepresented party.

ENTER: August 11, 2015

¥ SR R W

IRENE C. BERGER U
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA

20



